THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-GS-32-1255
Appellate Case No. 2014-002288

The State of South Carolina,..... Respondent,

v.

Hank Eric Hawes,..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP
A. Mattison Bogan
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 799-2000

SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION OF INDIGENT DEFENSE
Robert M. Dudek, Chief Appellate Defender
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
AUG 23 2016
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the Trial Court err by permitting the State to introduce numerous graphic photographs of the decedent's body where the probative value, if any, of those photographs was outweighed by the resulting unfair prejudice, and where the State successfully, though improperly, employed those photographs in closing argument by juxtaposing them with smiling photos of the decedent to elicit an emotional response from the jury?
2. Did the Trial Court err by permitting the State, a day after it concluded its cross examination of Mr. Hawes, to recall him to the stand for a single question intended solely to elicit testimony from him that would permit the State to then call "impeachment" witnesses to testify about Mr. Hawes' prior acts that would otherwise be inadmissible?
3. Did the Trial Court err by permitting testimony regarding a prior argument between Mr. Hawes and the decedent?
4. Did the Trial Court err by refusing to recuse the Fifth Circuit Solicitor's office from prosecuting a case in which two fact witnesses were an assistant solicitor and her husband?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the errors of law committed during the prosecution and conviction of Hank Eric Hawes. On October 5, 2011, the State of South Carolina indicted Mr. Hawes for murder. (R. 1145.) Prior to trial, Mr. Hawes' counsel moved to recuse the Fifth Circuit Solicitor's office from prosecuting the case in light of the fact that two material fact witnesses in the case were an assistant solicitor and her husband. (*See* Def. Motion to Recuse, R. 1.) Judge DeAndrea Benjamin held a hearing on the motion on December 19, 2012 (*see* Transcript of Pre-Trial Hearing, R. 2), and, in an Order filed February 8, 2013, denied the motion (*see* Order Denying Motion to Recuse, R. 14.)

The action was tried before Judge J.C. Nicholson, Jr. on October 6–16, 2014. The Fifth Circuit Solicitor's office—represented by Dolly Garfield, Luck Campbell, and Foster Matthews—prosecuted the case. Mr. Hawes was represented by public defenders Doug Strickler, E. Fielding Pringle, and Megan Eigenbrot. During the ten-day trial, the State relied on the testimony of 35 witnesses, including the decedent's neighbors and coworkers, the police officers who responded to the scene, SLED evidence analysts, and several of Mr. Hawes' acquaintances. Mr. Hawes testified in his own defense and called one expert witness to present testimony regarding bloodstain pattern analysis at the scene. After the State concluded its cross examination of Mr. Hawes, the trial court permitted the State to recall him to the stand the following day in an effort to elicit "impeachable" testimony from him that would then permit the State to call witnesses to testify about prior bad acts—testimony that would otherwise be inadmissible.

At the close of the State's case, at the close of all evidence, and after the jury returned its verdict, the trial court orally denied Mr. Hawes' motions for directed verdict.

(R. 791, 1039, and 1135.) The court instructed the jury on the elements of murder, voluntary manslaughter, and self-defense. (R. 1114 – 1118.) After deliberating for several hours on October 15 and several more hours on October 16, the jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Hawes guilty of murder. (R. 1130:25 to 1131:20; *see also* Verdict Form, R. 1147.) The trial court sentenced Mr. Hawes to life in prison. (R. 1142:24 to 1143:2; *see also* Sentence Sheet, R. 1148.) This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Hawes and Jennifer Wilson met in February 2011 through the online dating site E-harmony. (R. 805:23 to 806:2.) The two began dating shortly thereafter, though neither of them treated their relationship as an exclusive one. (R. 805:15-21; *see also* R. 153:3 to 155:1; R. 165:21 to 169:2; R. 575:6 to 581:22.) In June 2011, Mr. Hawes, who had previously resided in Simpsonville, South Carolina, moved to Columbia to be nearer to Ms. Wilson. (R. 805:22 to 806:1.) Mr. Hawes moved into a home on Woodrow Street in Columbia. (R. 806:13–16.) Ms. Wilson, a professor at the University of South Carolina, lived nearby at 3721 Monroe Street in the Shandon neighborhood. (Supp. R. 1:9–13.)

The relationship, like many romances, was passionate and, at times, turbulent, leading some to classify it as an “off and on” relationship. (R. 79:8–9; Supp. R. 2:3–5.) Indeed, Mr. Hawes and Ms. Wilson themselves recognized their relationship was sometimes “stormy.” (R. 409:25 to 319:4; R. 599:13–17; *see also* R. 807:6–10 (“[W]e had a lot of ups and downs. We had some good days, we had some bad days.”).)

During the final week of July and the first week of August 2011, Ms. Wilson—an avid yogi—travelled to Bali, Indonesia on a two-week group yoga trip. (R. 83:15–23.)

Over the course of the trip, she met a fellow USC professor named MVS Chandrashekar, colloquially known as “Chandra.” (R. 158: 21–25.) Upon returning from Bali, Ms. Wilson and Chandra communicated frequently and met for several meals at Chandra’s home, around town, and at Ms. Wilson’s home.¹ (R. 165:21 to 169:2.) Though Chandra and Ms. Wilson were not dating (R. 167:4), their text message exchanges indicated mutual interest in a romantic relationship. (See R. 167:15–19;² R. 168:12–17.³) In addition, shortly after her return from Bali, Ms. Wilson met for dinner with a former boyfriend, Steven Harrod. (R. 140:22 to 142:4.) Mr. Hawes noticed that, upon her return from Bali, Ms. Wilson “became more distant” from him. (R. 810:6.) Accordingly, Mr. Hawes set up and paid for a couples counseling session that Ms. Wilson, at his behest, attended with him on August 26, 2011. (R. 538:21–24; R. 810:19–25.)

On Saturday, August 27, 2011, Ms. Wilson texted Mr. Hawes, who was not feeling well, and offered to bring him breakfast on her way to yoga. (R. 453:19–24; R. 811:15–22.) After bringing him breakfast and attending her yoga class, Ms. Wilson again texted with Mr. Hawes to inquire how he was feeling and whether she could bring him

¹ On one occasion on August 18, 2011, Ms. Wilson and Mr. Hawes had been “sexting” and Mr. Hawes—in a somewhat excited state—arrived at Ms. Wilson’s home, only to discover to his surprise and dismay that Chandra was there. (See R. 419:1–23; R. 540:7 to 541:17.)

² On cross-examination, Chandra testified as follows regarding text messages he exchanged with Ms. Wilson: “Q. Do you recall after she left that night sending her a text message that says, You drive me wild? A. I said that, yeah, I did. I said that to her. Q. And her saying the feeling is mutual? A. That may have happened.”

³ On cross-examination, Chandra testified as follows regarding text messages he exchanged with Ms. Wilson: “Q. [Do you recall] telling her, Can I come by and get a hug, but I promise no funny business? A. Yes. Q. And her saying, Between you and me, there’s always funny business, do you recall that?”

anything. (R. 454:11–22.) She subsequently invited him to stop by her house for lunch. (R. 455:1–4.) He did so, and the two were sexually intimate that afternoon. (R. 455:7–8; R. 812:2–7.) Around 5:30 p.m., the two departed for their respective evening plans. (R. 812:17–20.) Mr. Hawes went to Cantina 76, a restaurant on Devine Street in Columbia, for dinner and to socialize with a friend, Mr. Aaron Wilson. (R. 455:9–19; R. 812:23 to 813:5.) It was Mr. Hawes’ impression that Ms. Wilson was going to attend a birthday party for a coworker and then join him around 8:00 p.m. (R. 813:9–17.) Over the course of the evening, the two exchanged texts in which Ms. Wilson’s itinerary kept “getting later and later.” (R. 813:17–21.) Mr. Hawes left Cantina 76 around 10:30 p.m. and headed home. (R. 813:25 to 814:9.)

Meanwhile, while Mr. Hawes had been having dinner at Cantina 76, Ms. Wilson had joined her former boyfriend, Mr. Harrod, to attend a birthday party held at Cowboy Steakhouse downtown Columbia. (R. 141:12–21.) The two met at Mr. Harrod’s house at 7:15 p.m. and traveled to the steakhouse, where they remained until shortly after 10:00 p.m. (R. 142:5–16.) While at the steakhouse, Ms. Wilson exchanged text messages with Mr. Hawes in which she lied about the nature of the party and who else was present. (*Compare* R. 455:13 to 456:10 *with* R. 150:5–7.⁴) Ms. Wilson and Mr. Harrod subsequently traveled to a friend’s house to continue the birthday party until they departed around midnight. (R. 143:3–16.) From there, they traveled together back to Mr. Harrod’s house, where they arrived around 12:20 a.m. (R. 143:17–23.) At his house, she

⁴ Ms. Wilson texted Mr. Hawes that the party was in the Vista area of Columbia and that she was “with 12 black people,” was “the only white person” in the group, and was *not* on a date. (R. 455:13 to 456:10). However, Mr. Harrod—a Caucasian—testified that he and other white people were with Ms. Wilson at the birthday party that evening on Main Street. (R. 150:5–7.)

and Mr. Harrod spent some time leaning against the car and hugging and kissing one another before Ms. Wilson departed. (R. 153:21–25.) Ms. Wilson next traveled to Chandra’s to attend *his* birthday party, where she stayed until around 1:30 a.m.. (R. 160:24 to 161:17.) Upon her departure, Chandra walked Ms. Wilson to her car and also gave her a kiss. (R. 161:18–24.)

Over the course of the evening, Mr. Hawes and Ms. Wilson had exchanged text messages regarding when that evening she would return home. (*See* R. 813:17–21.) Ms. Wilson repeatedly indicated she would soon join Mr. Hawes, but then repeatedly delayed and postponed doing so. (*See, e.g.*, R. 455:23 to 456:24; R. 457:4–12; R. 457:23 to 458:4; R. 564:5 to 565:22.) As the evening got later and Ms. Wilson continued to delay her return, Mr. Hawes began feeling “[f]rustrated, blown off, [and] jerked around.” (R. 913:22–24.) Their final text message exchanged was at 2:03 a.m. on August 28, 2011, and Mr. Hawes telephoned Ms. Wilson at 2:13 a.m. and 2:14 a.m. (R. 458:11–13; R. 459:23 to 460:15.)

By that time, Mr. Hawes “was feeling upset” and “kind of blown off” by Ms. Wilson, and he “really realized that the relationship wasn’t going anywhere and [he] just needed to end it.” (R. 815:9–12.) Accordingly, Mr. Hawes “decided to go ahead and go over there and just go ahead and tell her that . . . I didn’t want to be in this relationship anymore.” (R. 815:19–22.⁵) Mr. Hawes drove to Ms. Wilson’s duplex, parked in the normal spot in the back, knocked on the door, and was admitted by Ms. Wilson. (R. 816:9–20.) He left his shoes on the back porch, which was in keeping with Ms. Wilson’s

⁵ *See also* R. 803:10–13 (“Q. Why did you go? A. Basically, I saw the relationship wasn’t going anywhere, so I went there just to have a clean break of it.”); R. 856:8–13 (same).

rule of not wearing shoes in her home. (R. 817:2–14.) Upon entering the house, Mr. Hawes testified that he told Ms. Wilson that he wished to end their dating relationship. (R. 820:8–12.) He testified that Ms. Wilson became angry, inquired if he'd been in communication with his former girlfriend, Dr. Stacey Newsom, and became enraged to hear that Mr. Hawes had been in touch with her. (R. 820:12 to 821:15.) Mr. Hawes extended a hand toward Ms. Wilson in an explanatory gesture, and Ms. Wilson reacted by biting down on his index finger. (R. 821:17 to 822:5; R. 823:19–25.)

Mr. Hawes attempted to flee from the duplex, but the door was locked. (R. 824:1–20.) Meanwhile, he testified, Ms. Wilson began screaming at him and pulling her hair. (R. 824:22 to 825:6.) The next thing he knew, Ms. Wilson had a knife and was advancing on him. (R. 825:8–20.) Mr. Hawes grabbed a nearby kitchen knife in hopes of defending himself, when suddenly, “in a blink of an eye, she was on top of me.” (R. 825:20 to 1072:2.) In the shock and chaos of the resulting tussle, Mr. Hawes had no conscious memory of striking any particular blow. (R. 827:7–16.) He testified that when he was finally able to extricate himself from her grasp, he “saw blood everywhere” and was in shock. (R. 827:15–25.) He checked Ms. Wilson for a pulse and, when he found none, was overcome with an “overwhelming sense of grief” that compelled him to slash his own wrists. (R. 828:2–20.) Mr. Hawes, who admits he was not at that time thinking rationally, then moved Ms. Wilson’s body to the bedroom where he laid her on the bed. (R. 829:10 to 830:1.) Mr. Hawes then sat on the other side of the bed for some time, where he again cut his wrists and bled profusely. (R. 836:14 to 837:19.) At some point thereafter, Mr. Hawes—irrational from loss of blood—carried Ms. Wilson’s body to the bathroom where he cleaned the blood off himself and her body. (R. 843:4–14; R. 846:3–12.) He then

placed the body on the living room couch on a blanket and some pillows. (R. 846:13–25.) Mr. Hawes, who was still bleeding profusely, retrieved a soft-sided cooler from the kitchen to contain the blood pouring from his wrists as he sat next to the body for some time. (R. 847:21 to 848:4.) Mr. Hawes again cut his wrists in an attempt at suicide. (R. 849:4–8.)

Ms. Wilson’s neighbor in the duplex, Mr. Kelly Smith, had been awakened at 2:29 a.m. by the sounds of the struggle next door. (R. 85:5–18.) Mr. Smith called the police to report the disturbance. (R. 88:1.) The police arrived but observed no lights, sounds, or signs of any struggle, and thus did not enter the residence. (R. 112:17 to 116:25.) Over the next few hours, Mr. Hawes placed several calls to Dr. Stacey Newsom, a former girlfriend with whom he remained friends. (R. 840:11 to 841:16.) During these conversations, he was crying, upset, said he felt dizzy and weak, vomited several times, and there were long lapses of silence on the line (*Id.*; R. 303:5–25.) In addition, Mr. Hawes sent Dr. Newsom an email at 5:22 a.m. with the subject “Last Will,” in which he left all his assets, including his dog, to Dr. Newsom. (R. 566:17–25.)

At 8:48 a.m., Mr. Hawes searched the internet for “criminal attorney in Columbia, South Carolina” (R. 462:15–25), and shortly thereafter called criminal defense attorney Jack Swerling and authorized him to call 911 to report Ms. Wilson’s death. (R. 50:23 to 51:13; R. 463:4–13.) One of Ms. Wilson’s neighbors—Mr. Eric Ashton—subsequently observed Mr. Hawes backing his vehicle out of Ms. Wilson’s driveway and departing the scene. (R. 124:15 to 125:8.) Upon arriving at his own house, Mr. Hawes called EMS to request medical assistance for the injuries to his wrists. (R. 855:18 to 856:3.) EMS responded and took him to Baptist Hospital downtown Columbia where his wrists were

treated. (R. 319:9–10.) Meanwhile, after the police received Mr. Swerling’s 911 call, officers responded to 3721 Monroe Street, where they found Ms. Wilson’s body on the living room couch. (R. 54:20; R. 57:9 to 59:8.) Later that day, when law enforcement realized Mr. Hawes’ involvement, officers traveled to the hospital, arrested him, and subsequently charged him with murder. (R. 309:23 to 310:23; R. 856:4–7.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal raises issues regarding the admissibility of evidence and testimony at trial and the recusal of a Solicitor’s office. The admissibility of evidence “is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011). Similarly, whether a defendant has “opened the door” to otherwise inadmissible evidence is addressed to the circuit court’s discretion. *State v. McCray*, 413 S.C. 76, 92–93, 773 S.E.2d 914, 923 (Ct. App. 2015). South Carolina’s courts have not previously established what standard of review governs a trial court’s refusal to disqualify a solicitor’s office where an assistant solicitor was a witness to a crime being prosecuted by that office. In other factual settings, however, the decision to disqualify a solicitor’s office is subject to the trial court’s discretion. *See, e.g., State v. Bell*, 374 S.C. 136, 646 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2007).

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court erred by allowing the introduction of unnecessary and prejudicial photographic evidence used by the prosecution in closing arguments to arouse the passion and prejudice of the jury.

At trial, over defense counsel’s objection, the Trial Court permitted the introduction of photographs of Ms. Wilson, including photographs of her smiling in happier times and graphic photographs of her uncovered body at the scene. These photos

were used to arouse the jury's emotion. Indeed, the State relied on both types of photographs in its closing argument, inducing jurors to cry. (*See* R. 1126–1127.) As explained below, the admission of these photographs, none of which were necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions, were unfairly prejudicial because they suggesting to the jury an improper, emotional basis upon which to make its decision.

A. The Trial Court wrongly allowed the introduction of unnecessary, gruesome photographs and video.

During the testimony of the Crime Scene Investigator (“CSI”), the State sought to introduce nearly 100 photos of the scene and the decedent’s body. Defense counsel objected to 70 of the photos, arguing their graphic nature meant the danger of unfair prejudice outweighed their probative value. (*See* R. 192–193 and 195–196.) Defense counsel also argued that the cases upon which the State relied—*State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014) and *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 759 S.E.2d 160 (Ct. App. 2014)—were distinguishable because those cases involved autopsy photos needed to corroborate testimony and rebut opposing testimony, whereas here, the photos were *not* needed to corroborate the uncontested testimony of CSI witness regarding the wounds and the scene. (*See* R. 200.) The trial court excluded 10 of the photos but allowed the rest into evidence (R. 200–201), including:

- State’s Exhibit 33 (photo of the victim’s naked body lying on the living room couch with a cooler partially filled with blood on the floor);
- State’s Exhibit 38 (photo of a bite mark on the victim’s arm);
- State’s Exhibit 41 (photo of neck and chest wounds);
- State’s Exhibits 45 and 46 (photos of the wounds to the left and right sides of the victim’s neck, respectively);
- State’s Exhibit 54 (photo of a bruise on the victim’s left leg);
- State’s Exhibit 60 (close-up photo of a wound);

- State’s Exhibit 62 (photo of back wounds); and
- State’s Exhibit 142 (photo of stab wound to victim’s left breast).

(See R. 194.) Later, over Defense counsel’s objection, the State introduced a video of the crime scene depicting the victim’s exposed body on the couch.⁶ (See R. 358–361.) In addition, during the State’s direct examination of the DNA analyst from SLED and the chief medical examiner who performed the autopsy, the State introduced even more graphic photos taken from the victim’s autopsy. Defense counsel objected that (1) the resulting unfair prejudice outweighed the photos’ probative value, and (2) the photos were cumulative. (See R. 645–646 and 715–717.)

The prejudicial effect of these many graphic photographs was clearly demonstrated when the State used some of them (namely Exhibits 46 and 202 (On file with this Court) to conclude its closing argument to draw a contrast with a photo of the victim smiling in happier times (Exhibit 322 (On file)), which elicited an emotional response from jurors, causing at least one to cry. (See R. 1126–1127.)

B. Photographs that invoke the jury’s emotion, passion, or prejudice should be excluded, particularly where, as here, they are not needed to corroborate contested testimony or to rebut opposing testimony.

“Photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions.” *State v. Brazell*, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997) (citations omitted). A photograph is considered prejudicial if it creates “an undue tendency to

⁶ The graphic and sensational nature of the video footage was demonstrated by the fact it prompted a trial attendee to lunge at Mr. Hawes in an attempted assault. (See R. 923:4–5 (statement by Mr. Cronin that his disruptive actions on Thursday, October 9, 2014 were prompted by the fact that “Thursday was, obviously, very forensic and very graphic”).)

suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.” *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991). For example, the Supreme Court has reversed and remanded for new trial in a case where the prosecution introduced graphic autopsy photographs that were not needed to corroborate the pathologist’s testimony regarding the victims’ undisputed wounds:

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