**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

AUG 19 2016

SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Hank Eric Hawes,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2014-002288

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON

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

The intent with which Appellant acted was of critical relevance in his trial for murder thus impeachment was proper. “While it is true that threats against a third party are normally not

admitted to show malice against the deceased, the rule is not an inflexible one.” *State v. Alford*, 264 S.C. 26, 32, 212 S.E.2d 252, 254 (1975), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009). Here, the statement shows, contrary to Appellant’s testimony of his intent that he had actually expressed that he would make his girlfriend appear at fault in a serious situation where police would investigate. These details, like the specific details in *Beck* as to a specific type of crime and type of victim, compel the finding that the statement, which *Beck* would support could have been substantive evidence, is certainly relevant for impeachment purposes. *See United States v. Queen*, 132 F.3d 991, 996 (4th Cir. 1997) (“The more similar the extrinsic act or state of mind is to the act involved in committing the charged offense, the more relevance it acquires toward proving the element of intent.”); *cf. People v. Cruz*, 187 P.3d 970, 998 (Cal. 2008) (“The prior threat to kill a deputy by shooting him in the back of the head was ‘manifestly admissible [under state evidentiary law] to show defendant’s state of mind’ at the time he fatally shot Deputy Perrigo in the back of the head.”); *People v. Rodriguez*, 726 P.2d 113, 129 (Cal. 1986) (upholding admission of a threat to third party under state evidentiary rule finding “a generic threat is admissible to show the defendant’s homicidal intent where other evidence brings the actual victim within the scope of the threat”). At any rate, any possible error could only be harmless.

Appellant courts “[i]n determining harmless error regarding any issue of witness credibility, ...will consider the importance of the witness’s testimony ... whether the ... testimony was cumulative, whether other evidence corroborates or contradicts the ... testimony, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and the overall strength of the State’s case.” *State v. Fossick*, 333 S.C. 66, 70, 508 S.E.2d 32, 34 (1998). Respondent submits the importance of any testimony on intent is clear where the only issue is whether there was malice

aforethought. This in turn also heavily supports the importance and necessity of full cross-examination and impeachment. Even so, the overall strength of the case would still have been prodigious – the neighbor’s recounting of the waves of violence, (R. p. 85, line 17 – p. 87, line 24), undermines Appellant’s story, as does the blood evidence in the home, and the victim’s own body reflecting bruising, stabs to the back, knife twisting to the throat, and a bite mark to the upper arm, the unresponsiveness to police inquiry at the home, the treatment of the body after the attack – all weigh heavily against Appellant’s story. Further, the remaining cross-examination shows Appellant merely relied upon a purported failure to remember the attack – except, of course, that he was only acting in self-defense during the entirety of his vicious attack –and offered attacks on the victim’s character. (See, for example, R. p. 882, line 17 – p. 883, line 23; p. 897, lines 9-24). Further, the impeachment statement was skeletal and did not involve concomitant collateral evidence of prior bad acts, rather the allowed evidence was limited to the prior statement alone. The evidence neither showed a pattern of bad acts or *res gestae*. At any rate, should one extract the short statement, such extraction does not reasonably push the scales away from proof beyond a reasonable doubt. However, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in allowing impeachment based on the inconsistent statement. There is no error.

Appellant’s argument to the contrary should be rejected.

### III.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the specifics from the written statement offered in redirect describing a prior argument between Appellant and Ms. Wilson when defense counsel opened the door to the specifics of statement that he omitted from the cross-examination that would bear on the witness's recall and ability to perceive the events described.

#### Relevant Facts:

Outside the presence of the jury, the State advised the Court that Mr. Kelly Smith, the victim's neighbor, informed officers in his initial statement not only that he had heard the vicious fighting the night of the murder, but had heard victim and defendant fighting June or July before the August murder. In particular, the State advised his testimony would be he heard the victim "yell out no, again, in fear." (R. p. 70, lines 9-15). The defense moved to exclude the "characterization 'like he was hurting her,'" which the Court granted. (R. p. 72, lines 12-13). The Court allowed the State to question the witness about what he actually heard. (R. p. 72, lines 7-8).

The State thereafter called the witness. Mr. Smith testified that he had heard a prior argument, through the walls of the duplex. He explained the duplex residences were "mirrored" and he could "hear everything that they said in the living room," could hear telephone calls, essentially, "[i]f it was above speaking volume, I heard it." (R. p. 82, lines 1-9). He testified he recalled hearing an argument between Appellant and Ms. Wilson around the "end of May, beginning of June." (R. p. 82, lines 12-13). Specifically, he testified he "heard mumbling and then it lead to her saying no very loudly. Like, No. No." (R. p. 82, lines 16-17). He recalled that this alarmed him and Ms. Wilson later approached him in their backyard and he stated in their discussion that "sometimes relationships get heated and" he advised Ms. Wilson she could call on him "if she needed anything." (R. p. 83, lines 7-12). He noted at that point that her

relationship with Appellant “was on the mend.” (R. p. 80 line 14). Mr. Smith noted that Ms. Wilson was absent a great deal of the time over the summer with trips to Bali and to see her parents. (R. p. 83, line 15 – p. 3). In August of 2011, he noted Appellant at Ms. Wilson’s home. (R. p. 84, line 7-15). He testified he was alarmed at that point and talked to her about the situation as at that point in time he understood them to be “on the outs” and she was not seeing him anymore. (R. p. 84, line 17- p. 85, line 4). He thereafter described the sounds of violence that he heard as Ms. Wilson was murdered, her screams of “no, no, no” and “pleading for her life,” that the violence began in the bedroom area and the “second wave” sounded from the the kitchen. (R. p. 85, line 17 – p. 87, line 24).

On cross-examination, Appellant questioned Mr. Smith as to whether he could actually hear where the violence occurred, pointing out neither the bedroom or the kitchen were referencing in his original statement describing the violence. (R. p. 102, line 11 – p. 103, line 7). Appellant also asked about the “one time before” that he heard Appellant and Ms. Wilson fighting. He asked:

So when you describe prior difficulties between Ms. Wilson and Hank in that summer and you’re asked whether you ever remember it, you mentioned yes, one time before.

(R. p. 104, lines 19-22).

Mr. Smith confirmed “one time” and added, “[o]ne time that stood out.” (R. p. 104, line 23-25). Appellant suggested that the relationship was not rocky, but they had been in “constant contact.” (R. p. 105, lines 16-17). He noted Mr. Smith’s direct testimony that Appellant and Ms. Wilson “had been involved with each other one way or another for about eight or nine months prior to the incident,” and that Mr. Smith had been living in the duplex for “that entire period of time” as had Ms. Wilson. (R. p. 106, lines 1-5).

On re-direct, the solicitor noted that the statement did, in fact, reflect that the last struggle was at the back door. (R. p. 107, line 22 – p. 108, line 5). Further, the solicitor asked about him to continue his answer from cross-examination to explain what was also in his statement about the prior difficulties. Mr. Smith testified he “heard her screaming like he was hurting her and Jen saying no.” (R. p. 108, lines 11-12). The defense thereafter objected and the Court, after a bench conference, overruled the objection. (R. p. 108, lines 6-20). Mr. Smith then confirmed that the description of the prior fight was in his statement. (R. p. 108, lines 23-24).

Outside the presence of the jury the defense placed its objection on the record:

... Ms. Campbell went through the statement and elicited his testimony that I heard her screaming like he was hurting her. Specifically, like he was hurting her, which was the portion of the statement that we dealt with earlier and had been excluded earlier.

I submit I did not open the door to that in my examination of him. My questioning of him was whether or not he had told the police one time before, that he heard them arguing one item [sic] before. And he responded yes. And he responded that’s what I testified to today.

So I don’t see how that opens the door to her then elaborating on what she had just been ruled as inadmissible. So the objection is on that basis and I move for a mistrial on that basis.

(R. p. 109, line 24 – p. 110, line 13).

The trial judge summarily denied the motion for mistrial but requested the solicitor place her argument on the objection on the record. (R. p. 110, lines 14-15). The solicitor noted the defense inferred Mr. Smith gave incomplete information in his statement and admission of the rest of the statement showed there was more complete information which the defense failed to publish or acknowledge, citing Rule 106, SCRE. (R. p. 110, lines 16-21).

The trial judge ruled:

... I overrule the objection based upon opening the door on cross-examination. It was insinuated directly towards that the man did not hear properly through the

walls and he heard properly enough to realize or, at least, thinking that she was in danger of being hurt. Therefore, I think the door was opened. And your motion is denied....

(R. p. 110, line 22 – p. 111, line 3).

Discussion:

“The scope of redirect rests in the discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Stroman*, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984). *See also State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 625, 525 S.E.2d 246, 247-48 (2000) (The “[a]dmission of evidence falls within the trial court’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent abuse of that discretion.”). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law,” *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 335, 748 S.E.2d 194, 203 (2013), or when the ruling lacks factual support in the record, *Wilder v. State*, 388 S.C. 282, 285, 696 S.E.2d 587, 588 (2010). *See also State v. McEachern*, 399 S.C. 125, 137, 731 S.E.2d 604, 609 (Ct. App. 2012) (same). Appellant submits that the ruling lacks factual support for finding the statement admissible, *i.e.* lacks factual support for finding defense counsel opened the door. (FBOA, pp. 18-21). However, the record lends significant support to the trial judge’s ruling.

First, it cannot be contested that defense counsel questioned the witness’ specifically about the lack of detail in his written statement. (See R. p. 101, line 24 – p. 102, line 1, specifically referencing statement given at 12:45 on August 28, 2011). Defense counsel questioned the witness’ testimony on hearing the violence from the confrontation and murder and placing the violence in various locations. Defense counsel directly questioned the witness about the absence of the location detail in his written statement. (R. p. 102, line 8 – p. 103, line

7).<sup>8</sup> Defense counsel also directly questioned the witness's knowledge of any difficulties or state of the relationship as referenced in the statement. (R. p. 275, line 10 – p. 276, line 2). This, in turn, logically brings into question whether the testimony on direct regarding a prior confrontation was a product of *post hoc* reasoning, or if there was some reason to have express recollection of the prior argument. The State was able to dispel the defense suggestion of *post hoc* reasoning by relying on the detail in the statement given at 12:45 on August 28, 2011.

In short, defense counsel posed questions on the basis of the sufficiency and correctness of the written statement. The redirect was narrowly tailed to the details in the statement supporting the testimony – the very statement defense counsel repeatedly challenged. (See R. p. 107, line 11 – p. 108, line 24). There is no error as the redirect was proper pursuant to Rule 106, SCRE. The matter is settled by reference to *State v. Patterson*, 367 S.C. 219, 625 S.E.2d 239 (Ct. App. 2006).

In *Patterson*, the trial judge allowed the admission of an entire statement under nearly identical circumstances:

After eliciting testimony from Richardson regarding how careful she was in giving police a correct depiction of the events that led to Clark's murder, defense counsel in essence insinuated Richardson's statement to police was incomplete. The defense put Richardson's statement to police at issue, and fundamental fairness required the entire statement be admitted into evidence. Patterson would have us construe Rule 106 in such a way that inquiries that probed at alleged omissions from a statement would not open the door to the admission of the statement. The purpose behind Rule 106 would be frustrated if the rule's application in a given case depended upon whether an alleged oral assertion was or was not in a written statement. We find the rule of completeness applies to insinuations, innuendos, and omissions. Thus, the trial judge properly admitted Richardson's statement.

---

<sup>8</sup> It is rather telling that defense counsel did not object to the remainder of the redirect when the redirect was based on the extensive questioning about the written statement. His position appears to concede the response, as a whole, was proper. Again, the response was based on the questions posed about the written statement and a fair presentation of the evidence by admission of the statement as a whole.

*Patterson*, 367 S.C. at 227-28, 625 S.E.2d at 243.

The trial judge reasonably and logically found that the defense had opened the door to response by its “insinuations, innuendos, and omissions” in its examination of the witness concerning the witness’ written statement. There is no error. However, should this Court find error in these discrete circumstances, such error could only be harmless given the wealth of evidence of malice and Appellant’s concession that he inflicted the fatal wounds. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) (“Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”). This is so for several reasons.

Initially, Respondent notes the reference to “screaming like he was hurting her and Jen saying no,” without evidence that Appellant hurt Ms. Wilson at that time, does not show an actual bad act of significance. Further, there was ample, un-objected to evidence of a tumultuous relationship between the two so the evidence was harmlessly cumulative. *See State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (improper evidence harmless where merely cumulative to other evidence); *State v. Evans*, 378 S.C. 296, 299, 662 S.E.2d 489, 491 (Ct. App. 2008) (evidence “merely cumulative, insubstantial” did not affect the result of trial and considered harmless). However, and critically, Applicant admitted inflicting the fatal wounds, and the number and position of the wounds is an artful articulation of malice proven by the victim’s own body. The evidence well supports the jury’s murder verdict such that the admission of the minor statement, if considered error, could only be harmless on this record. *Bailey, supra*.

Appellant’s argument to the contrary should be rejected.

#### IV.

The circuit court judge in pre-trial did not abuse her discretion in declining to order the entire Fifth Circuit Solicitor's Office be recused from the trial of this case where one assistant solicitor and her husband lived next to the murder victim, the assistant did not participate in trial nor was called as a witness, and her husband testified only to seeing Appellant leave the home which was not contested. She correctly found Appellant failed to show prejudice in this set of circumstances.

#### Relevant Facts:

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